right, whether
under weigh,
eration in the
ind or to an
ripping, or to
lon.

s either to the
stance,” which
ey were close
1aving laid his

cutter that a
volve the risk
the master for
of the Bristol
down between
annoel, and the
he usual course
reason why he
short cut, pro-
nself or others.
o good look-
as not a mere

ship without
otwithstanding
, and the long.
1 as master, we
luty unless we
nk that it is a
shment at the

his certificate
asks for it, we
iod of the sus-

ther the Board
- for any costs,

on is made, we

RY,
ommissioner.

}Assessors.

RS £

(No. 274.)
“QUEEN OF THE SOUTH.”

The Merchant Shipping Acts, 1854 to 1876.

Ix the matter of the formal Investigation held at the Town
Hall, Greenock, on the 7th and 8th of May 1879,
before H. C. RoTHERY, Esquire, Wreck Commissioner,
assisted by Captain Hovt, I.N., and Captain Warb,
as Assessors, into the circumstances attending the loss
of the sailing ship “QuEex or THE SouTHn,” of
Dumfries, about three miles west of Chiltepec, in the
Gulf of Mexico, on the 27th of February 1879.

Repurt of Court,

The Court, having carefully inquired into the circum-
stances of the above-mentioned shipping casualty, finds,
for the reasons annexed,—

1. Thet the cause of the stranding and loss of the said
vessel on the 27th of February last was the insufficiency of
the anchors and chains which she had on board.

2. That the master, after he had lost his two bower
anchors and chains on the 6th of January last off Frontera
took every means in his power to replate them.

3. That the master made every proper endeavour to rejoin
his ship after she had been driven off the coast on the said
6th of January. .

4. That the mate acted in a seamanlike manner and did
his duty thoroughly, when left in charge of the vessel off
Frontera, whilst the master was on shore, and until he
rejoined her at Chiltepec on the 17th of the said month of
January.

5. That proper measures were taken to get the vessel
over the bar of the Chiltepec River on the 14th of February
last, and that her stranding on that occasion was owing to
the wind having fallen and come ahead.

6. That there is no evidence that the orders and sugges-
tions of the pilot were on that occasicn disobeyed or dis-
regarded.

7. That whether the master was or was not affected with
liquor on the said 14th day of February, the stranding was
not due to any misconduet on his part, and even if it was
no serious or material damage was done to the vessel
thereby.

8. 'T'hat the master, and not the mate, is responsible for
the quantity of drink given out to the crew on that occa-
sion, which affected one at least of the crew.

9. That the master took all reasonable and proper
measures on the 26th and 27th of February last to ensure
the safety of the vessel and the lives of those on board.

.10. That the vessel was navigated throughout with
proper and seamanlike care. '

The Court further finds that neither John Anderson, the
master, nor Malcoln Mathieson, the mate, has been guilty
of any act or default which would justify either the suspen-
sion or cancellation of their certificates, and it accordingly
returns to them their certificates.

The Court makes no order as to costs.

Dated the 8th day of May 1879.

(Signed) H. C. RoTHERY,
‘Wreck Commissioner.
We concur in the above report.
(Signed) G. Trerusts Howr,

”» C. Y. Warp, }Assessors.

MiNvuTES oF PROCEEDINGS taken before HENRY CADOGAN
RoruERY, Esquire, Wreck Commissioner, and Captain
Howr, I.N., and Captain WaRrD, Assessors, at.the
Council Chamber, Town Buildings, Greerock, on Wed-
nesday and Thursday, 7th and 8th May 1879, upon
the inquiry into the stranding and loss of the British
sailing ship *“ QUEEx oF THE SourH.”

Mr. David Turnbull, writer to the Signet, appeared for
the Board of Trade.

Mr. Alexander Cumeron, solicitor, appeared for the
master.

Mr. Turnbull was heard to open the case for the Board of
Trade, and called evidence.
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. On the conclusion of the evidence Mr. Turnbull handed
In a copy of the following questions, upon which the Board
of Trade desired the opinion of the Court :—

“1. What was the cause of the stranding and loss of the
vessel on the 27th February 1879, near Chiltepec, in the
“ Gulf of Mexico? '

“2. Whether the master tnok proper measures to replace
the two anchors lost off Frontera, and whether the
captain made proper endeavours to get on hoard his
vessel between the 4th and 16th January?

“3. Whether the mate acted in a seamanlike manner
and did his duty thoroughly when left in charge of the
vessel off Frontera, while the master was on shore, and
until the master joined the vessel at Chiltepec? -
“4. Whether on the 14th February proper measures
were taken to get the vessel over the bar, and what was
the cause of her stranding at that time ?

“5. Whether the orders or suggestions of the pilot
were on that occasion disobeyed or disregarded ?

“6. Whether during the day of the 14th February the

master was drunk or was in any way the worse of

liquor ?”
{3 7
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. Whether on that day the master or mate gave out
or attempted to give out an exorbitant quantity of drink
“ to the men?
“ 8. Whether on the 26th and 27th F ebruary the master
took proper measures to ensure the safety of the vessel
and the lives of the crew ?
“ 9. Whether the vessel was navigated throughout with
proper and seamanlike care? and
“ 10. Whether the master and mate are or either of them
“ is in default ?”’
And he also. stated that “in the opinion of the Board
of 'Irade the certificates of John Anderson, master, and
“ of Malcolm Mathieson, mate, should be dealt with.”

Mr. Cameron was heard for the master.

The Mate was heard in his own behalf,

Mr, Turnbull was heard in reply.

€«
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Judgment.

The Commisioner.—This is an inquiry into the circums
stances attending the total loss of the British sailing ship
“ Queen of the South,” of Dumfries, off Chiltepec, in the
Gulf of Mexico, on the 27th of February last. The circum-
stances of the case, so far as they concern the present
inquiry, are as follow :—

The *“ Queen of the South ” was o barque of 351 tons
gross and 336 tons net register. She was built at Sunder-
lend in the year 1855, and at the time of her loss was the
property of Mr. Alexander Duff Maclaren and Mr. Donald
Maclaren, both of Greenock. It seerns, however, from the
copy register now before me that these gentlemen had
mortgaged their interest in the vessel to a Mr. Alexander
Gauld, of Greenock, agent for the Commercial Bank of
Scotland, to secure an account current with current rate of
interest.

On the 15th of March 1878 the vessel, after having been
surveyed by Lloyd’s, was reported as fit for the conveyance
of dry and perishable goods, and received an A 1 in red
certificate, equivalent to the second description of the first
class, and on the 17th or 18th of April she left London
with a general cargo bound to Trinidad. Having dis-
charged her outward cargo she took in a cargo of sugar,
with which she returned to Greenock. She then took in a
cargo of coals, with which she left on the 15th October
last bound to St. Thomas, and having there discharged
her cargo she received directions to proceed to Frontera,
in the Bay of Campeachy, for orders. She accordingly left
St. Thomas on the 15th of December, and on the 3rd Jan-
usry following arrived off the mouth of the Tabasco River,
up which Frontera is. "There she remained at anchor, the
master not being able to land until the vessel had been
visited by the authorities; but on the following day the
Custom House boat came nlongside, and the captain then
went ashore in her for the purpose of clearing his vessel,
leaving instructions with the mate, that if it came on to
blow he was to drop the starboard anchor, and then pay
out chain equally on both anchors.

Frontera, [ should state, is about 12 miles up the river,
and the master, not being able to obtain a clearance for his
ship on the 4th, which was Saturday, had to stay on shore
over the Sunday. During the night, and early on the fol-
lowing morning, Monday the 6th, the wind came on to
blow so strongly that the mate, in obedience to the instruc-
tions which he had received from the master, dropped the
starboard anchor, and then paid out chain upon both
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anchors. The wind, however, continued to increase, and
at about 8 ‘a.m.the port cable parted in the hawse hole,
upon which ‘the Whole of the starboard chain was paid out,

but after. s short ‘time ‘that also "parted. The vessel was -

then edrift, aid the mate, thinking_ that it would not be

possible to heéat sut to sea, prepared to run the vessel on

shore ; but thé boatswain, who was at the helm, called out
that he thought ‘she would clear the spit, upon which the
mate ordered all sail to be sef, and she went clear and
stood 6ut to sea.’ She continued beating about until the
12th, when she sgain came to anchor off the mouth of the
Tsbasco River. It was, however, still blowing so strong
that they were not able to send a boat over the bar to
bring the captijn off, nor could he get over the bar to
them. ° He, however, signalled to them from a ship, which
was lying inside.the bar, but they could not understand
the signals. ~ ‘
" “Having lost both bower anchors and mést of her chain
cables; the miitte had only the spare anchor and about 30 to
35 fathoms of chaiti remaining on board ; and finding, as
the ‘night approached, that” the wind was increasing, he
determined to put: to sea again. This time, however, the
ship got to leeward of her port; and finding that he could
not béat up’ again to windward he ran-into Chiltepec,
which is some 24 ‘miles farther to the west. .
" 7Tn'the micantime the master had received orders to load
a cargo ‘of. timber at Chiltepec, and not seeing the ship
return, and thiiking that she might have been 'driven to
leéward, he engaged a stevedore and proceeded with him
in his ‘boat "down the coast until they reached Chiltepec,
where he found his vessel safely anchored inside the bar.
Having rejoined his vessel the master at once discharged
the ballast, and commenced taking in his cargo. The bar
of ‘the Chiltepec River is, however, so-shallow thut only a
portion of the cafgo could be taken on board in the river,
and it Was necessary then to go outside to load the re-
maindér. ~ Thé miaster accordingly consulted the pilot, who
wis to take his vessel out,as to the depth to which he
might Toad his vessel, and was told at firstthat e could
not Joad her below-10 feet; but subsequently he was told
that he might “Joad her down to 10 feet 4. The-master,
however, tells us-that he only loaded her down to 10 feet
forward and 10 feet 3 aft, and that he had done this by the
end of January ; but knowing that he would have tolie out-
side the bar whilst He took in the rémainder of his cargo
he would not leave the river until he had received on board
another enchdr and chain, which he'had purchased from a
Swedishi- of Norwegian vessel named the ‘¢ Frederik,”
which had beér técently wrecked outside the bar. Owing
to the state of the weather some delay occurred in getting
possession’of this anchor and chain; but on the morning of
the 14th they were put on board, and the vessel then pro-
ceeded down theé river.. The river having a tendency to
silt. up, the pilot went ahead: for the purpose of sounding
and laying down buoys to mark the channel; and having
done so he returted to meet the. vessel, when the wind,
which had 4% first been favourable and ofi'the land, headed
them, iipon which :he ordered the anchor to be dropped,
which was ‘imnjédiately. done. 'What then occurred bas
been the subject .of much controversy; according to the
mate and some of the crew, the pilot - was very unwilling to
cross the bar, bit was overruled by the master and the
stevedore, who was also on board ; according to the master
everything was done with the consent and under the direc~
tions of the pilot.” Be this however as it may, the anchor
was again ¥aised; and they proceeded to cross the bar, but
the, wind having become light and from seaward, the
vessel’s head paid off and she took the ground. on the
western: spit. 'The kedge anchor was thereupon carried
ouf, and an attémpt was made to haul her off into the
deep channel, but the anchor came home, and notwith-
standing “all their efforts she remsined fast. At about
4 o’clock the captain went on shore with the stevedore and
pilot, and an .agreement was then entered into with. the
stevedore that he should obtain the requisite assistance in
men and tackle to get the vessel off ; and that if he suc-
ceeded in getting her off he should receive 500 dollars, but
if ‘not. he should have nothing. Accordingly on the
attempts being renewed on the following day the vessel
came off, and was thereupon taken up the river; but on
its being.found, that she had not sustained any damage by
grounding, she on the following day again proceeded down
the river,-and after touching two or three times she passed
safely out, and was anchored infrom four to five fathoms
outside thebar, .~ R
. It was.now Sunday the 16th, and on the two or three
following days timber was sent down the river and taken
on board,. but ;on “Thursday the 20th’a northerly gale
sprang. up,. Which “compelled .them to put to sea again.
They remained” béating about not daring to return until

the afternoon of Saturday the 22nd, when she again came

~ to anéhor outside the bar. On the foll_owi‘ng; day, Suﬁday,‘ '

a raft of timber was sent down and taken on board, the

- crew having consented to work on that day. On the .
Mon@ay, however, the sea was too rough to allow them to -
take in any curgo; but on Tuesday o raft of timber :came -

down and was taken on. board, and the same on Wednes-
day. On the 26th as night closed in the weather appeared
to be unsettled, it being dark all round the horizon with
lightening in the distance but clear above. The master
and mate consulted together and came to the conclusion
that it was not likely to be serious, but everything was got
ready to run out to Sea in case of need, and a watch having
been set, all hands turned in. At about 10:or 11 o’clock
the weather appeared to be getting worse, and accordingly

Andro Seland, the watchman, called the master, and he -

and the mate then came on deck and again consulted
together, but they still thought that it would not be any-
thing and they accordingly remained at amnchor, the vessel
continuing to ride with the spare anchor down and from
20 to 25 fathows of chain cable out. At about 12, how-
ever, the vessel gave a surge and parted her chain, and
all hands having heen at once turned up, the other anchor,
which had been purchased from -the wreck of the
“ Frederik,” and which was lying-over the starboard bow;
was let go, but it did not hold, and the vessel continued to
drag towards the-shore. Seeing that it would be .im-
possible to beat out to sea, the master came to the conclu-
sion that the best course to take was to run the vessel on
to the beach. Before doing so, however, he called all the
erew aft and informed them cf what he proposed to do,
and asked them if they saw any objection to it. No
objection having been made, and indeed the crew having-so
fur as appears expressed-their approval of the course which
it was proposed to take, the chain was slipped, and the
vessel’s head was laid for the shore, and ' after beating over
a bank she ran stem on to the main beach.. By daylight
the wind had come off the land, and' the sea having gone
down considerably, the ‘master went on. shore..to-report the
casualty, leaving the mate and crew on board. But at

about 11-o’clock the wind again came away from the

northward, and the sea-begining to. rise it was found
necessary to cut.away the main and mizen mast,.the. sea

then making a clean breach over:her,:and. the.vessel heing.
broadside - to the sea: . Finding that the vessel -was bilged

and full of water, the mate- determined to abandon lier, and
a boat having been launched under the lee they all got
into it and succeeded:in reaching the shore in safety, but
the vessel herself went to pieces and was entirely lost,
together with everything on board. . o =

Now the first- question upon which:-the opinion.of the
Cowrt has been asked is, what was the cause of the stranding
and loss of -the vessel on the 27th of February last, off
Chiltepec? and to this-I think that we shall have no
difficulty in finding an answer. . It seems that.when. the
« Queen of the South » left this country she had two bower
anchors, each of about.l3 cwt., besides a spare anchor of
about the same weight, and a stream and two kedges.
Attached to each of .the bower anchors was a chain cable
about 90 fathoms long. Some question was raised as to
the condition of these cables; it was admitted that the
last 45 fathows of the port cable, and the last 60 fathoms
of the starhoard cable were new' and: good, but the upper
part of both were said to have been old-and corroded. How
far this may have been the.case we have now no means of
knowing ; it must, however, be observed that they were seen
and passed by Lloyd’s surveyors in-the March preceding,
and may, therefore, be assumed to have been sufficient for the
purpose. - As I have already stated, she lost her two hower
anchors off Frontera on the 6th.of January, and at the
same time the whole of the chain cables, except -about 30
to 35 fathoms - of -the upper and- therefore old portions, so
that when she was lying off Chiltepec she had only the
spare anchor, with something like 30 to 25 fathoms of the
old cable, besides the anchor and chain which the master
obtained from the wreck of the ¢ Frederik,’ and which
weighed only about 10 cwt. These when the wind-came
on to blow proved insufficient to hold her, and. she was
consequently driven ashore, but whether anyone, and. if so
who, is to blame for the casuslty must depend upon the
answers to the other questions which have béen submitted
to us. : o oo .

The second question upon which our opinion is asked
is, whether the master took proper measures to replace the
two anchors lost off Frontera? 'The master has told us
that he did use every exertion to:obtain:other snchors and
chains, but that he' could get none either.at. Frontera or
Chiltepec, except the anchor and chain from-the swreck - of
the ¢ IFrederik,” and that for that:he:had to wait inside the
river-for 14-days, after:lie was ready to eross the bar,.. The
only ‘witness who contradicted the master’s evidence on
.this point was the steward, who said that the “ Frederik *
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had another anchor and chain, which was very much larger
than that purchased by the master ; but this was denied by
the captain, who told us that the anchor to which the
steward referred was not larger than one of his kedges, nor

the chain larger than his mooring chains. The steward’s -

evidence on this point I should observe was not confirmed
by any of the other witnesses, all of whom said _thn.t, so far
as they knew, there was no other anchor or chain that the
master could have procured, except that which he obtained
from the wreck of the ¢ Frederik.” And seeing the way in
which the steward gave his evidence, and to which I shall pre-
sently have occasion to refer, we must reject this man’s evi-
dence, and must hold that the master did do everything in
his power to replace the two anchors which he had lost.
The next question on which our opinion is asked is,
whether the captain made proper endeavours to get on
board his vessel between the 4th and 17th of Januaryy?
The master told us that when the vessel returned to the
mouth of the Tabasco River on the 12th the sea was so
rough that it was not possible to cross the bar; and in this

he was confirmed by all the witnesses except the steward,

who at first told us that when they returned on the 12th
the sea was quite smooth, implying that the master would
have had no difficulty in rejoining his vessel ; but when asked
why, if that was so, they had not sent a boat over the bar to
fetch him off, stated that the sea would not allow them to do
so. Inour opinion it is clear thiat this man’s word is mot to
be believed ; and that the master made every endeavour to
rejoin his ship after she had been blown off the coast on
the 6th January. When, too, he found that she did not
return to her anchorage- he showed a good deal of fore-
thought in engaging a boat and running down the coast
to leeward, until he found her in the Chiltepec River.

The next question upon which our opinion is asked is,
¢« whether the mate acted in a seamanlike manner and did
* his duty thoroughly, when left in charge of the vessel off
 Frontera, whilst the master was on shore, and until the
“.master :joined the vessel at Chiltepec 2 and we have no

hesitation in saying that he did. - He seems to have shown -

a good deal of nautical skill in beating off the shore after
hoth his anchors had parted on:the morning of the 6th
January. “He was quite right in our opinion, after return-
ing to his anchorage off Frontera on the 12th, to pnt out to
sea whenhe found.that the wind was again rising ; and he
wes also right, when he found that he had drifted to the
westward of his‘anchorage. to put into the Chiltepec River,
seeing that he had lost both his hower anchors and had

only the spare anchor with some 30 to 35 fathoms of old

chain on board. .

The next questions,.which relate to the master’s conduct -

on the occasion of the first attempt to eross the bar of the
Chiltepec River, are, ‘whether on the l4th February
“: proper measures were taken to get the vessel over the
“ bar, and what was the cause of her stranding at that
“ time ?” and “ whether the orders or suggestions of the
pilot were on that occasion disobeyed or disregarded ?°” It
is admitied that when:the vessel aitempted to cross the
bar of the Chiltepec River on the 14th February she was in
charge of a pilot, and that the order which he gave to drop
the anchor the first time was promptly obeyed; but it s
said that the order to raise the anchor again and to proceed
to cross the bar was given in disregard of and in dis-
obedience to the orders and suggestions of the pilot, and
upon the authority of the master and the stevedore alone.
Now upon what evidence does this rest? It seems that the
master and the stevedore were on the poop together, the
pilot being in the hows with the mate. The pilot could
speak nothing but Spanish, and the stevedore, who was an
Italian, acted as interpreter between the master and the
pilot. Any communication then which the pilot might
wish to make to the master would be shouted from forward
to the stevedore, who would thereupon translate it to the
master, who was standing beside him on the poop. None
of the crew understood Spanish and they would therefore
not be able to say with any certainty what were the orders
or suggestions given by the pilot; but they said that from
his manner they came to the conclusion that he ohjected to
the raising of the anchor; he seemed, they said, to be
excited. But, as Mr. Cameron very justly observed,
foreigners, especially Mexicans, frequently employ what we
should consider to be violent action when giving orders;
and the fact that he may have used violent action when
giving his orders by no means shows that he disapproved
of the raising of the anchor. The master has distinctly
sworn that everything was done in accordance with the
pilot’s orders as transtated to him by the stevedore ; and.it
1s quite impossible on the loose and unsatisfactory evidence
of the crew-that -we can hold that the attempt to cross the
bar was made in contravention of the pilov’s orders. That
the pilot may have kad some disinclination to- cross-the bar
with'the wind as it then was, light and bhaffling. and that
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the master may have been urgent with him to make the

attempt is quite possible ; but would the master have been .

to blame for so doing? We think not. Consider for one
moment the position in which the vessel was placed. She

had already lost a great deal of time; she had been driver
out to sea on the 6th of January very .soon after her .
arrival on the coast, and the master had net been able to

rejoin her until the 17th; she had been detained in the

river for about 14 days, after the loading there had been
completed, waiting for another anchbor and .cable, Was it -

not reasonable that the master should be most anxious to
get over'the bar and there complete his loading, so as to
proceed on his voyage? . :

If, too, we look at the sniling directions for this part of
the coast we shall see with what kind. of difficulties this.
master bad to contend. The “ West India Pilot,” speaking
of the rivers on this part of the coast, says at page 375,

“ When the rivers are at their highest level the bar is at

“ the shallowest, and when they are at their lowest point
‘¢ the channel being contracted is scoured out-and becomes-
“ deeper. At the close of the rainy season in Pecember
“ there are at times only 7 feet of water; but the first’
“ norther will increase the depth to 10} feet; and again a
““ freshet may soon after reduce it to 7 or 8feet. In the
“ rainy season vessels have been detained inside the bar
“ for two months waiting for sufficient water to cross it.
“ The direction of the channel will also change 'with these
¢ fluctuations.”
the samne work that the bar of Chiltepee has only 7 or 8 feét
water, it can readily be understood how  anxious this
captain must have been to cross the bar on the very first

opportunity after the long detention which: he had already

suffered.

If then he was urgent with the pilot: to mf_xkev the nttempt,it

we are far from saying that he would be to blame for
having so done. Even though there may have heen some
risk of touching the bar in going out, we are disposed to
think that he probably exercised a wise discretion in
making the attempt; for it must always be:remembered

that the risk seems after all not to have been very great, for

the vessel lay upon the bar for 24 hours without appa-’
rently having suffered any damage ; and I am told by.the
assessors that probably every vessel as shé goes out touches

the bar; and the fact that the kedge anchor wheii laid out .
had come home so easily shows how soft -the sand is of

which the bar is composed. Whilst then we-think that the
master would not have been to blame for urging thdt an
attempt should be made to cross the bar, we are by no
means convinced that the pilot was not a consulting party.
to it; or that any of his orders or suggestions were either
disobeyed or disregarded. D

-1 now come to a very serious and imporfant‘-pai-f; of the

case, and ‘on which there has been a great deal of contra-:

dictory evidence, namely, * Whether during the day of the’

 14th of February the master was drunk or in any way
¢ the worse of liquor; and whether on'that day the master
“ or mate gave out, orjattempted to give out, an exorbitant
“ quantity of drink to the men?” "Now I think that we
may at once acquit the mate of having given out, at all
events on his own authority, an exorbitant quantity of
drink to the men, for the master himself his told us that
the mate was always opposed to giving the men anything
to drink., On the other hand it is certain that one at
lenst of the crew, I think it was Andro Selund, had
more than was good for him, and that he had some words
with the mate, \Vhether the captain also had more than
was good for him is a matter of some’ doubt. 'The
master -denied it, but the mate and the rest of the crew
are very positive on the point. When,: too, the master
admits that, although not accustomed to take spirits, he on
that day took spirits on three separate occasions, the first
time brandy and the other two_ times whisky, it certainly
would lead one.to think that the evidence of the crew is
not wholly without foundation, and that the master may
to a certain extent have been affected with drink, although,
as they say, he was perliaps not wholly unfitted for his
duties. On the other hand Mr. Caméron has produced
an agreement which we are told 'was drawn up by the
master the same evening, and which whcther we look at the
handwriting, or at its cuntents appears hardly to have been
the work of a drunken man. It is the engagement made
with the.stevedore to get the ‘vessel off the Sand, znd
provides that the stevedore is io receive 500 dollars if he
succeeds in getting her off, but nothing if he does not, the
stevedore finding the necessary hands and tackle. Bug
whether the master was or was not affected by liquor
it does. not appear that any act or omission of his contri-
buted to the vessel grounding upon the bér on that day, and
even if it-did it is not shown that any serious or material
damage resulted therefrom to the vessel, and it would
therefore not be competent for us on'this ground, after the

When, too, we are told at page 379 of .
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decision of the Court of Queen’s Bench in ez parte Storey
(Law Reports, Q. B., vol. 3, p. 166),.to deal with this man’s
.certificate. - . L. .
.. The next..question on-which our opinion is asked is,
« whether.on.the 26th and 27th of Febrnary the master
“ took prober measures to ensure the safety of the vesgel
« and the lives of the crew?’ The master bas told -us
.that, although the weather on-the evening of the 26th of
February appeared to be somewhat threatening, he came to
the conclusion, after consultation with the mate, that -it
was not going to be anything serious; .and he accordingly
remained at anchor. The evidence of the mate was to the
same effect. - On the other hand Louis Chapelier, the cook
and steward, tells us that he came to an opposite conclusion
and thought that during the night it would blow a norther.
Now in determining how far the master was bound to take
the opinion .of the steward in preference to that of the mate
it may be well to see what was Mr. Chapelier’s position on
board the vessel, and what were his antecedents. 'The
account .which. he gave of himself is that he was at one
time an apprentice, then a common seaman, then  captain
.of & small coasting vessel on the Coast of Australia ; that
he then went to the. diggings, then he hecame a common
seaman again, then he returned to the diggings again ; and

fi‘

since that time he has been cook and steward on hoard

Nova Scotia and United States vessels. I think then that
the master.is.not to be blamed for adopting the advice of
‘the mate on the prospects of the weather in preference to
that of & gentleman of such very varied pursuits as this
cook and steward. No doubt it would have been better,

as it turned out, if the master had put to sea on the even- -

ing of thé 26th instead of remaining at anchor ;. but seeing
the inconvenience and loss of time which must necessarily
result from it, we are not prepared to say that the master
was not fully justified, finding his opinion confirmed.by
that of the mate,:in remaining at anchor were he was.

It was said, however, that instead of riding by the port
anchor only with somne 20 to 30 fathoms of old chain out,
he ought to have dropped both his anchors, but in that
opinion we are by no means disposed fo concur. Having
only two anchors on board, namely, the spare anchor and
the anchor which he had obtained from the wreck of the
¢ Frederik,”” he acted in our opinion quite rightly in
dropping. only one, holding the other in reserve; for had
he, whilst riding with both anchors .down, been obliged to
slip, or- had he parted from them, he would have found
himself adrifs without a single anchor. on board, with which

to bring up ; & position, it need hardly be observed, of very .

considerable danger. . oL .

. Moreover, after. the port- cable had parted, and it was
found that the starboard anchor would not hold, we are of
opinion that the master took the proper seamanlike course

by slipping the starboard chain and turning the vessel’s.

head. towards the beach.. Had he not taken this course
the vessel would probably have gone either stern foremost
or.broadside on to the beach, and-in that case the lives of
thosé on board. would have been. placed in considerable
peril. . We think, therefore, that the master took all proper
measures for the safety of the vessel and the lives on board
on the evening in question. . : : -

In answer.ta.the ninth question,.* whether the vesscl was
navigated throughout with proper and seamanlike care?”
we can only say-that there is nothing in. our opinion. to
show that she was not. R :

Before I proceed to answer the last question on which

our opinion is asked, namely, whether the master or mate, :

or both of them-are in.any respect. to blame? it is proper
that I should advert to.two.or three matters which have
arisen in the course of these proceedings, and upon which,
although no questions have been asked, it is desirable that
the Court.should express its opinion. .

It seems that on.the 8th of April last' a letter was sent
to the. Secretary of the Marine :Department of the Board
of Trade, signed by the mate, the steward, and: two of the
seamen in these words: ¢ We:being some of the crew of the
¢ barque ¢ Queen of the. South,” of Dumfries, wrecked at
« Chiltepec, in the Gulf of Mexico, on the 27th of February
« 1879, sent home by H.B.M. consul from New York to
¢ Liverpool, arrived here last night in the steamship € Atlas’
« and the remainder of the crew arrived this morning in
« the ¢ City of Richmond.” We thought our duty toreport
“ to you of certain cases in regard to putting the vessel on
“_the bar wilfully and intentionally. Next day had to pay
« g large amount of money. to . get .her off, as she did not
« gtick :firmly as for good. Having lost our principal

..

« gnchors and chains on our arrival on .the 6th of January

< 1879 at Frontera.de Tabasco in -a heavy northerly gale,

« through which was the cause of the losing of the vessel.

« having no proper anchor and chains to hold the vessel.
. Having more to say about the. whole affair, which we do
“ not think it necessary to report until-we receive your

 answer, to which all the others will give their statement -
“if required. - : ' h R

. “(Signed) "MaLcoLm MATHIESON,

Mate.
EETIES LOUIS"CHA'PELIER,‘ .
R ! © o Stewdrd.
s A~NDRO SELUND, S .
3 " DuNcaN NIACKE‘NZIE,} eamen.” -

This letter, without which, as Mr. Turnbull has observed,
this inquiry would probably never have been held, distinctly
charges the master with having wilfully and intentionally
tried to throw tne vessel away, and it will be necessary,
therefore, to see on what grounds so serious a charge has
been preferred. o .

And first, let us see what are the grounds alleged by Mr.
Louis Chapelier, the cook and, steward, who seems to have
been principally instrumental in getting up ‘this letter,
and in whose handwriting it. is, for charging the master
with having wilfully and intentionally sought to cast this
vessel away.. Now the first ground alleged by himt is that
the master did not get proper anchors and cables. It is
clear, however, that the master was in no way to blame for
the loss of the two bower anchors, for they were lost when
he was on shore, and when the mate was in charge of the
vessel. And it has, [ think, been clearly shown that, after
they were lost, the master procured.the best anchor and
cable which he could find. We can see nothing, therefore,
in this for which to blame the master.. The next reason
alleged was hecause he anchored the ship outside the baz:
but I should like to.know how the steward proposed to
complete the loading of this vessel, except by anchoring her
outside the bar. As a fact she grounded in the first
attempt to take her across the bar; and on the second
attempt touched twice or thrice, showing that she was
quite deep enough; and I am anxious to know how the
steward would propose to have taken her across the bar of
the. Chiltepec River if she‘had been fully laden inside.
There is, therefore, nothing in this. | .

.The third ground is that he omitted to stand out to sea
on the night of the 26th of February, but remained at
anchor at the mouth of the Chiltepec River; but I

altogether fail to see how this could be any proof that he -
wilfully and intentionally tried. to: throw the  vessel.away. .

It might have been an-error of judgment, but it is no proof
of any intention to throw her away. The steward.may
have thought that the weather was going to be bad,.but
the master was, in our opinion, quite justified in acting on
his own judgment on such a matter, supported as it was
by the opinion of the mate. : A '
The steward then said that he thought the master intended
to throw her away  from the way in which he went on ;> and
Ithink he stated that he saw the master and the stevedore
langhing - after the ship had grounded on the bar. But
whether they laughed or not, 1t is clear that they did all
they could to get the vessel off, and that on the following
day they did in fact get her off. I can, therefore, hardly
understand. how the master’s acts on that day show that he
had any wish or intention of wrecking her on the bar.
Another ground given by the steward for believing that
the master wanted to throw away the vessel was because
he told him, he said, to destroy the log-book.. The whole
story of this log-book is not very satisfactory.. It seems
that a few days before the casualty, the old log-book being
full, 2. new.log-book had been given out by the.captoin,
and that some few entries had already been made in it.
When then they were on the point of abandoning the ship
the mate told the steward to go into the cabin and bring
the log-book.. Thereupon the steward went into the cabin,
which was at the time more than half full of water, took
the new log-book out of o' drawer, and carried it ashore
with him. 'T'he old log-book it seems had been locked up
by, the master and could not then be got at. In-walking
along the beach from the place where the vessel was
wrecked to the village they had to wade .through some
water, and: the steward then either dropped or threw the
log-hook into the water. He picked it up again, however,
but it was wet, and some of the leaves, including those which
had. been- written on, either fell out or were taken out.
When then they got to the inn where they were going to
put up the log-book contained none but hlank sheets; and
the master seems to have thought. that there was no use
therefore in keeping.it; and what became of it is not-very
clear. It.appeared also that some of the entries, which
had been made either in this or in the old log-book had
not been appreved of by the master, and that he. bad torn
out the leaves, -and -directed the mate to re-write them.
Now a master has no right to tear any of -the sheets out of

5 Jog-book; he may draw his pen through an. entry’

which is incorrect, and of which he disapproves, but he

ought not to tear the sheet out; and so far the master was
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%o blame. But we are utterly at a loss to understand what
wvere the entries in this log-book which would make the
master wish to destroy it. Neither the mate nor the
steward could give us any information, or could even offer
a suggestion on the point. The entries had been made by
fhe mate, and the master was in no way responsible for
them. We cannot, therefore, see what motive the master
could have had for wishing to have the log-book destroyed.
But however this may be, we fail to see how the fact that
the master wished to have the log-book destroyed, even if
it was established, could show that the master had en-
deavoured  wilfuily and intentionally >’ to throw the vessel
away.

L)z;stly, the steward told us that he had heard the master
several times say that he would give her all the chain he
could, and if she would not hold He would put her on the
beach ; but we are unable to see how this would show that
the master endeavoured wilfully and intentionally to throw
her away. One can hardly understand why, if he wished
her to be wrecked, he should give her all the chain he
could, we should rather have thought that he would give
her as liftle chain as possible. Rut if the master said he
would give her all the chain he could, and that if she
would not hold ke should be obliged to put her on the
beach, which the steward was at length compelled to admit
that the master might have said, it is a remark which
might easily have been made without any bad motive.

I have now gone carefully through all the reasons, which
have been put forward by the steward for believing that
the master endeavoured wilfully and intentionally to throw
the vessel away, and they appear to us to be wholly insuffi-
cient to establish sc serious a charge, which if it could he
proved would justify the master being put upon his trial
There is, huwever, one other reason, which was given by
the mate, and to which it is necessary that I should refer.
He told us that in the evening of the 15th of February,
after the vesse! had come off the bar, he said to the captain
that he thought she would never have come off, end the
captain thereupon answered, “and so did 1,’ adding, “and
 bhetweezn you and me it would have been letter for the
** owners if she had never come off, but I will go on shore
“ and tell the pilot to put her on shore where she won’t
“ come off.” Now whether the master ever did go and
tell the pilot to put her ashore where she would not come
off again, it is clear that the pilot necver acted upon those
instructions, for he took her on the following day safely
over the bar, and anchored her in four or five fathoms of
water. But is it likely, if the master had any such intention,
that he would have so expressed himself to the mate, there
being as it would seem anything but a friendly feeling
between them. The presumption, in our opinion, is
strongly against any such remark having been made by the
master, as that he would go and tell the pilot to put her
on shore where she would not come off again; but whether
the captain said that it would have been better for the
owners if she had never come off, may perhaps be more
open to doubt. Let us see what the facts are. )

It seems that this vessel, which is only 336 tons register,
and was built in the year 1855, and is, therefore, now
between 23 and 21 years of aze, was purchased by her
present owners at the end of 1876 or beginning of 1877,
for the sum of 1,300 to 1.400L, and that she is now
insured by them for 2,5007. How is it that she has never been
insured so much above the sum originally paid for her has
been fully explained to us by Mr. Bone, of the firm of
Foulds and Bone, shipping agents, who has had the entire
management of the vessel from the time she was purchased
by the present owners. He told us that immediately after
they had purchased her the owners had her remetalled,
and the cost of remetalling and reclassing her, together
with the docking and other expenses, amounted to between
6002. and 700!., making with the original purchase money
about 2,000/.. He said that within six months afterwards

_she pot aground, which obliged them to remetal her at a

further cost of about 4707, It will be seen then that the sum
at which she was insured was sufficient to cover not only the
original cost price, but all the moneys which had been spent
upon her since the beginning of 1877. It is clear, how-
ever, that this must be considerably in excess of her value,
the last 470/. having been spent not to add to her value,
but to make good damage which she had sustained. The
captain told us that he knew nothing of these facts, but if
he had, and had said that it would have heen better for
the owners if the vessel had never come off, he would pro-
bably not have been very far wrong. Whether indeed it is
right that the vessel should te insured in a sum so much
in excess of her value is 2 mattar upon which we can all
form our opinion. e
One further circumstance should be mentioned which
serves to show the very unsatisfactory relations which
appear to Lave subsisted between the master and the mate,

P

and which may possibly account for the very serious
charge of attempting to throw away his vessel which has
been brought ugainst the master. = It seems that two or
three days after the vessel had been safely taken across
the bar of the Chiltepec River and anchored she had to
be put out to sea to avoid being driven ashore, and it was
only in the afternocn of Saturday the 22nd that she was
able to get back to her anchorage. On the following day,
the Sunday, a raft of timber came alongside, which the
crew, at the master's request, consented to load, upon
which the mate, who seems to hold very strong religious
views on the subject of working on the Sabbath day,
thought himself called upon to protest, and did so inm
rather forcible language ; but perhaps it will be better to
give the mate’s own account of what occurred. He told us
that he went forward and told the men that there was no
necessity for them to work on the Sabbath day, and that
it was all through weakness of mind that they had con-
sented to do it; that he had sailed to different parts of the
world, amongst Heathens and Christians, and had never
been told to work cargo on the Sabbath day until that
time. Not content with this, the mate then went uft and
spoke to the captain about it, expressing himself apparently
I very strong language. The captain replied that he
thought that the man who was talking about it ought to
be the first at the work, upon which the mate remarked
that the work was “wunholy and uanecessary,” and the
captain then tuld him that if he did not like it he could go
below, the mate replied that he would go below if the
captain wished it, but as the captain seems not to have
expressed a wish that he should do so the mate remained
on deck. The captain then said that he wanted to get on
with the work so as to get the vessel out of danger, and
the mate replied that perhaps that would not bring her any
more out of danger by working on the Sabbath day. This
is the mate’s own account of what passed on the occasion,
and he told us that he made no secret of his opinions, but
spoke them out openly, so that the men who were about
should hear him. He told the men, however, that they
had consented to do it and that they must go on with it.’

Now whether the mate thought that the work was
unholy and unnecessary it certainly appears to us that
it was not proper conduct for a man in his position to go
and speak to the crew as he admits he did. If he thought
that the master was doing what was wrong he might have
taken him on one side and spoken to him about it, but
instead of that he goes first to the men forward and speaks
to them in the way in which he has described, and then
goes aft {o the captain and in a loud voice addresses to him
obsext'lvations tending to excite a spiriv of disaffection on
board. .

But T would ask, is the mate right in saying that the
work was unnecessary? Consider what the circumstances
were. Here had this vessel arrived off the mouth of the
"I'abasco River on the 3rd of J anuary ; she had been driven
out to sea on the 6th with the loss of both bower anchors.
and almost all her chain cable; and the captain, who was
at the time on shore, had not been able to rejoin her until
the 17th. Before the end of January all the cargo with
which she could venture to cross the bar was on board,
but she was obliged to remain for a fortnight waiting for
another anchor and cuble. On the l4th of February
having got her new anchor and cable she attempts to cross
the bar, strikes on the bank, and remains fast; she comes
off on the following duy, and on the 16th she gets safely
across and anchors.
by a norther, and does not return to her anchorage until
the afternoon of the 22nd; and then on the 23rd, when a
raft of timber comes alongside, the mate thinks that
because it is a Sunday it is * unnecessary ” to take it on
board. And in answer to the Court the mate stated as his
reason for thinking that the work was unnecessary, that if
they had not taken in that raft of timber on the Sunday
he believed Providence would most probably have made it up
to them by sending them two rafts on the Monday. Iam
not prepare:d to say that this may not have been so; at the
same time it is a contingency upon which the captain
would hardly have been justified in relying, with his vessel
in a position of considerable danger, and with insufficiens
anchors snd cables on board. It see.ns to us that it was
his bounden duty under the circumstances to get his cargo
on board as soon as possible, even though to do so he
might have to work on the Sabbath ; and we greatly regret
that the mate should have sought to stir up differences
between the master and the crew. How far this circum-
stance, coupled with the fact that some of the crew had
probably lost their effects by the stranding of the vesyel,
may have led to this letter being sent to the Board of
Trade, and to all the subsequent proceedings, is of course
a matter of conjecture.

It remains then for me to say whether in our opinion the

On the 19th she is driven out 1o sea
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master and mate are to blame for the casualty, and whether
their certificates should be dealt with. Now whether the
master was affected by drink on the 14th of February, and
whether it was owing to his misconduct that the vessel
grounded on the bar on that occasion, it appears to me,
seeing that she sustained no damage by the grounding,
that, on the authority of the case of ex parte Storey, we
have no power to touch this gentlemen’s certificate; and
there is no other charge established against him., As to
the mate, however strongly we may reprobate his conduct in
signing such o letter as he did, and however difficult it may
be to reconcile his extremely sensitive views as to the strict
ohservance of the Subbath with the bringing false and
slanderous charges against the master, it is clear that none
of these acts in any way contributed to the casualty; and
we cannot therefore touch his certificate on that ground.
In all other respects the man seems to have shown himself
a good seaman, more especially when the vessel was in his
sole charge after being driven off the coast on the Gth of
Jnnuary, and before the master rejoined her on the 17th.
That this, too, is the opinion of the master is clear from the
certificate which has been produced dated the 14th of
April last, and in whieh the master says the mate is strictly
sober, a good seaman, and very attentive to his duties, and
that he could safely recommend him. We can see then
nothing for which we ought either to cancel or to suspend
the certificates of either of ihese gentlemen; and we shall
therefore order them to be restored to them.

Do you ask for.costs Mr, Turmbull?

- Mr. Turnbull.—1I do not. _

Mr. Cameron.—I had not intended to ask for costs until
after | had heard your statemeunt your Honour.

The Commissioner.—If you have anything to urge why
1 should give you your costs I shall he ready to hear
vou.

Mr. Cameron.—I have merely to say that, seeing now (I
could not and did not wish to say amything about them
until T heard your Honour’s decision) that the cause of
this inquiry has been this letter, and that it has utterly

fallen to the ground, I think that my client is entitled to

his costs. ‘ _

- The Commissioner.—Against whom do you ask for them ?
Mr. Cameron.—Against the Board of Trade.
The Commissioner.—On what ground ?
3r. Cameron.—On the ground that they, when examining

6.

these men, might I think Lave seen, as your Honowr Las

done, what their statements were worth. That is the sole

ground upon which I ask for costs.

b The Commisstoner.—What have you to say Mr. Turn-
ull ?

Mr. Turnbull.—X have merely to say in reply, your
Honour, that the Board of Trade had no reliable grounds
on which to doubt the accuracy of that letter.

The Commigsioner—¥ am clearly of opinion that this is.
not a case in which I can give the master his costs. The
case was full of suspicion, and it was therefore necessary
that there should be an inquiry. ‘There can be no doubt,
too, that when this vessel crossed the bar of the Chiltepec
she was insufficiently furnished with anchors and cables,
and that in conseguence the vessel and those on board were
exposed to considerable risk; I do not say that they were
improperly exposed, but it was necessary that there should
be a full and complete inquiry into the circumstances..
Moreover, the captain has not been wholly exculpated from
the charges which have been made against him.” I must
therefore, Mr. Cameron, refuse you your costs, but I shall
1ot condemn you in costs.

One fact yet remains to be noticed. "This inquiry has
been held in what is little else than a private sitting room
with & table in the middle. Now I hold that in cases oft
this description, where the certificate of an officer, which is
the only;means he has of gaining his livelihood, is at stake,
and where a charge has been made against the master that
he endeavoured “ wilfully and intentionally * to throw the
vessel away, it is of the utmost importance that the inquiry

should be conducted in an open eowrt to which the public
and the reporters for the press have access, that they may
see that justice is done. I do trust that if I should ever
again have oeccasion to come to Greenock some better
accommodation will be provided for- us than this room, or
we shall, be compelled to hold the inguiry at Glasgow,
where, I am told, a court will always be placed at our
disposal, or if not, in my own court at Westminster. )

(Signed) H. C. RormEery, .
‘Wreck Commissioner..
‘We concur. )
(Signed) G. TrEerusis Hour,

C. Y. Waro, }Assessyrs.

(No. 424))
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